

Health, safety and welfare at work policy

December 2021

How Lichfield District Council delivers its commitment to health, safety and welfare to employees and others

Document Status: Final

Document Ref: HSP

Owner: Health and Safety Team

Version: 5

Date: December 2021

Document control: Health & Safety Team Lichfield District Council District Council House Frog Lane Lichfield WS13 6ZF 01543 308107

Approved by Leadership Team / Employee Liaison Group

Revision History

Revision Date Version Sun		Summary of changes	
	Control		
June 2019	2	Minor amendments to:	
(scheduled periodic review)		 Reference to Agile working rather than home working Removal of appendices – Diagram of Health and safety model. 	
		 Introduction of the term Building Safety Manager to replace the term Premise Manager (in recognition of the Hackitt Report – Building a Safer Future). 	
June 2020	3	Minor amendments to:	
(review due to organisational restructure)		 Policy statement re-signed July 2020 in line with review Directors responsibilities re-allocated to Heads of Service / Leadership Team due to restructure. The term "Directorate" is replaced with "service area" Clarification that the Cabinet Member for Innovation, Commercialisation and Corporate Services holds portfolio responsibility for health and safety and is the member champion in section 2.2.1 The term "Director of Transformation and Resources" is replaced by "Head of Governance and Performance" in section 2.2.3 Addition of paragraph relating to "Diseases, infections and viruses in the workplace" at section 4.5 Addition of a paragraph relating to "wellbeing at work" at section 4.30. 	
March 2021	4	 Contents page amended in line with the above Rewording of section 4.5 Diseases, Infections and 	
	+	• Rewording of section 4.5 Diseases, mections and viruses in the workplace	
November 2021	5	New Foreword by the Chief Executive	
		 Reference to Head of Governance and Performance replaced with Chief Operating Officer 	
		Reference to Cabinet Member for Innovation,	
		Commercialisation and Corporate Services is replaced with Cabinet Member for Innovation and Corporate Services	

Approval History

Revision Date	Version Control	Sign off by	Date
June 2015	1 (major redraft	• Employee Liaison Group	• June 2015
	of previous	 Leadership Team 	• June 2015
	version)	 Employment Committee 	• June 2015
June 2019	2 (minor	• Employee Liaison Group	• June 2019
	operational	 Leadership Team 	• June 2019
	changes)		
July 2020	3 (minor	• Employee Liaison Group	• July 2020
	operational and	 Leadership Team 	• July 2020
	organisation		
	structure)		

March 2021	4 (minor operational Change)	• Employee Liaison Group	March 2021
November 2021	5 (organisational changes)	Employee Liaison Group	November 2021 December 2021
	changes	Leadership TeamEmployment Committee	December 2021December 2021

Contents

1	Policy Statement	Page
1.1	Foreword	6
1.2	Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement	7
2	The Organisation of Health and Safety	
	The Council's organisational structures and responsibilities for the	
2.1	implementation of this Policy.	10
2.1 2.2	Devolvement of Health and Safety Management Individual Responsibilities	10 11
2.2	Member Champion	11
	 Council Health and Safety Champion 	
	 Service area Health and Safety Champions 	
2.3	Allocation of General Responsibilities	12
2.4	Health and Safety Policy Makers	14
2.5	Health and Safety Planners	15
2.6	Health and Safety Implementers	16
2.7	Building Safety Managers (Premises Managers)	18
2.8	Health and Safety Assisters	19
	Health and Safety Team	
	Occupational Health Unit	
2.9	Employees	21
2.10	Trade Unions Safety Representatives	22
3	Health and safety management	
3.1	Arrangements for Applying the Policy	23
3.2	Procedures for Identifying and Dealing with Priorities	23
3.3	Accident and Incident Reporting	23
3.4	Consultation	24
3.5 3.6	Occupational Health Reference and Information	24 24
3.0 3.7	Risk Assessment	24 24
3.8	Training, Instruction and Supervision	24
_		
4	Health and safety arrangements	-
4.1	Agile Working	25
4.2	Asbestos Contractor Sofoty	26
4.3 4.4	Contractor Safety Control of Substances Hazardous to Health	26 27
4.4 4.5	Diseases, Infections and viruses in the workplace	27
4.5 4.6	Display Screen Equipment and Workstations	27
4.0 4.7	Drugs and Alcohol	28
4.8	Electricity at Work	28
4.9	Event Safety	28
4.10	Fire Precautions	29

4.11	First Aid Provisions	29
4.12	Gas Installations and Appliances	29
4.13	Legionella	29
4.14	Lifting Equipment	30
4.15	Lone Working	30
4.16	Manual Handling	30
4.17	Needle Stick Injuries	31
4.18	New and Expectant mothers	31
4.19	No smoking / Passive smoking	31
4.20	Noise	31
4.21	Personal Protective Equipment	32
4.22	Petrol Use and Storage	32
4.23	Safety Signs	32
4.24	Slips, Trips and Falls	32
4.25	Stress	32
4.26	Suspect Packages	33
4.27	Tree Management	33
4.28	Vibration	33
4.29	Violence at Work	33
4.30	Wellbeing at Work	33
4.31	Work Equipment	34
4.32	Working at Heights	34
4.33	Working Time	35
4.34	Workplace and Welfare Facilities	35
4.35	Workplace Transport	35
4.36	Young Persons	36
5	Measuring Performance	37
6	Monitoring and review	
6.1	Monitoring of the Policy	38
6.2	Review and Communication	38
6.3	Supporting Information	38
7	Auditing	39

1 Policy Statement

Foreword

This is an important policy which demonstrates the duty of care owed by the Council to our employees and others – i.e. that we will go about our business in a way that will not put people at risk of harm.

We are members of a single team and need to work in a way which looks after our own and each other's health, safety and welfare. As employer, the Council and our managers have a duty to protect your health and safety and we know you will enjoy work and be able to do a good job for the people of Lichfield District if you are fit, healthy and feel safe and well. So, protecting your health and safety is in the interests of us all – you, the people you work with, the Council and our residents.

We must all take responsibility for health and safety, regardless of our role, service area or seniority. We will do this by promoting its importance, by consulting and listening, and by nurturing a culture that actively encourages you to raise issues and concerns without fear of recrimination or blame.

Please read this Policy; it highlights how the Council will meet the challenges and explains the important role everyone will play in achieving the objectives and keeping people in our workplaces safe.

Simon Fletcher Chief Executive November 2021

1.2 Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement

- 1.2.1 This General Policy Statement underlines our belief that an excellent council is a safe council. Since we are committed to successful management of health and safety, it follows that minimising risk to people, property, service continuity and our reputation is inseparable from all our other priorities.
- **1.2.2** A high standard of health and safety management is expected of us by our stakeholders, whether they are our employees, service users, customers, the government and its enforcing agencies or society generally.
- 1.2.3 The Council recognises and accepts its statutory responsibilities as an employer and will strive to secure the health, safety and welfare of it's employees and others affected by it's activities (for example, members of the public, service users, visitors, contractors, etc). We will do this by assessing the possible risks and establishing suitable and adequate risk control measures.
- 1.2.4 The Council is committed to complying with all relevant health and safety legislation. The Council does, however, recognise that compliance with legislation is only a minimum requirement, and therefore we strive to improve to achieve higher standards.
- 1.2.5 The Council is committed to continuous improvement that will include the setting of objectives and targets. Health and safety objectives are regarded as being of equal importance to other corporate objectives. The management of health and safety is regarded as an integral part of the Council's business activities.
- 1.2.6 The Council acknowledges that the Policy and what it represents, can contribute to the organisation's performance and reputation by:
 - Protecting our staff and service users
 - Improving the quality of services delivered;
 - Reducing losses (including accidents, violence, ill health, sickness absence) and liabilities;
 - Protecting the environment;
 - Making continuous improvements in health and safety performance; and
 - Encouraging all employees to think about how they can do their jobs more safely
- 1.2.7 Sufficient financial and physical resources will be provided to implement this policy. It is the duty of management to ensure that all processes and systems of work are designed to take account of health and safety.
- 1.2.8 The Council is committed to the development of a climate in which a positive health and safety culture can develop. The Council will achieve this by:
 - Maintaining effective systems of communication on health, safety and welfare matters;
 - Ensuring that there is sufficient competency within the organisation in terms of health and safety management including support and advice;
 - Establishing and maintaining control by setting clear health, safety and welfare objectives and providing strong leadership; and

- Securing co-operation between individuals, trade unions, employee safety representatives and working groups.
- 1.2.9 Steps will be taken to take a risk assessment approach to activities to avoid accidents, workrelated ill health and dangerous occurrences paying particular attention to the provision and maintenance of:
 - a safe place of work including safe access to it and safe egress from it;
 - a healthy working environment;
 - plant, equipment and systems of work that are safe;
 - safe arrangements for the use, handling, storage, and transport of articles and substances.
- 1.2.10 The Council promotes a 'no blame culture' as this is an essential part of this policy and is supportive of individuals who participate in hazard or near miss accident reporting.
- 1.2.11 It is recognised that accidents, ill health and incidents may result from failings in management control and are not necessarily the fault of an individual employee.
- 1.2.12 All employees, however, are expected to accept their responsibility to work safely, adhering to safety rules and work procedures, using safety equipment provided, and generally to contribute to the maintenance of safe and healthy working conditions.
- 1.2.13 The Council is committed to making sure that any work carried out on its behalf, is done so with the risks to the health, safety and welfare of employees and others reduced to as low a level as is reasonably practicable. As site occupier and client, the Council will plan, co-ordinate, control, monitor and review the activities of contracted organisations to effectively minimise the risks presented by contract work.
- 1.2.14 Our contractors and their subcontractors must co-operate with us to enable the requirements of this policy and our statutory duties to be met. We will ensure that contractors selected are competent to manage the safe execution of the work, and that our contractors and their sub-contractors have systems in place to ensure that risk control measures are identified before work commences and that their activities are monitored appropriately during work.
- 1.2.15 The Council will co-operate and co-ordinate with other employers to secure a safe and healthy workplace and work environment for our employees in the case of shared workplaces. In joint ventures/partnership arrangements, managers and staff appointed by the Council are required to encourage the other partner to work to the Council's health and safety standards. As a minimum, the joint venture/partnership arrangement must comply with relevant legislation and have access to competent health and safety advice.
- 1.2.16 The capabilities of employees as regards health and safety will be taken into account when entrusting work to them. Appropriate health and safety training will be provided to employees to enable them to meet the required standards of performance.
- 1.2.17 All managers and employees have a legal duty to take reasonable care of their own health and safety, and for the safety of other people who may be affected by their acts or omissions. Every employee must co-operate with the Council to enable all statutory duties to be complied with.

- 1.2.18 The Council is committed to effective communication and consultation on Health, Safety and Welfare matters with all relevant parties and will report on its health and safety performance on an annual basis.
- 1.2.19 The Health, Safety and Welfare Policy and its accompanying health and safety policies & procedures apply to all Council activities and workplaces. Compliance with this range of policies and related standards is mandatory and subject to periodic audit.
- 1.2.20 This policy will be reviewed and amended at least every two years or as required. A copy of all health and safety policy and procedures are available on the Councils intranet.
- 1.2.21 "Whilst we are each responsible for health, safety and welfare, we do much better when we work as a team. Protecting people's health and safety and promoting welfare matters to us all".
- 1.2.22 This Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement has the support of the Heads of Services and their Management Teams and will be adopted within all Service areas.

Simon Fletcher Chief Executive November 2021

2. The Organisation of Health and Safety

2.1 Devolvement of Health and Safety Management

- 2.1.1 The Council has a system of devolved management. In line with this, health, safety and welfare functions are delegated to managers to enable, wherever practicable, health, safety and welfare issues to be addressed at a local level.
- 2.1.2 Whilst management is devolved for practical purposes, the ultimate responsibility for health and safety of people, rests with the employer and its senior managers, i.e. Council Members, and its Leadership Team comprising the Chief Executive and Heads of Service.
- 2.1.3 Health and safety arrangements, and performance, will be monitored by Members through Employment Committee in conjunction with the Chief Executive and Heads of Service.
- 2.1.4 Leadership Team will ensure that health, safety and welfare is a primary consideration in policy development and resource planning. Leadership Team will also ensure adequate monitoring and will review the effectiveness of health and safety strategies across the Council.
- 2.1.5 Service Managers, line managers and supervisors play a key role in managing and supervising health and safety, and in maintaining and improving health and safety standards. To support this function, the Council will provide through its Health and Safety personnel competent advice on health, safety and welfare matters. The provision of a Health and Safety team does not detract from the primary responsibility of managers and supervisors to ensure safe conditions.
- 2.1.6 The Council also recognises the key role played by all managers and employees in effective health and safety risk management. They have a crucial part to play in maintaining and improving health and safety standards, therefore they will be made aware, via appropriate training and information, of their legal and moral obligations in respect of health, safety and welfare.
- 2.1.7 The Council will ensure that occupational health facilities are provided and will identify and control work-related ill health. Further, the Council will make sure that the work environment is monitored as necessary to encourage co-operation, partnership and joint consultation between Trade Unions' appointed Health and Safety Representatives/Employee Representatives and Management on matters of health, safety and welfare.

2.2 Individual Responsibilities

Member Champion

- 2.2.1 The Cabinet Member for Innovation, Commercialisation and Corporate Services holds responsibility for the corporate health and safety service and will act as the member champion to lead on health and safety activities. In this capacity they will promote and encourage a positive safety culture with other Members.
- 2.2.2 In addition all Elected Members must:
 - Ensure that the health, safety and welfare implications of decisions are properly considered.
 - Ensure that legal requirements in relation to health, safety and welfare are appropriately resourced to ensure no breach of law. This will be particularly important when setting budgets.
 - Ensure that appropriate health, safety and welfare measures are properly incorporated within all Council activities.

Health and Safety Champion

- 2.2.3 The prime responsibility for health, safety and welfare and the prevention of accidents, violence and ill health rests with line managers, but the ultimate responsibility for health and safety within the organisation remains with the Chief Executive. To ensure that this responsibility is managed effectively and consistently across the council the operational management has been delegated to the Chief Operating Officer to act as the Councils Champion.
- 2.2.4 The Council's Health and Safety Champion has a critical role to play in ensuring that health and safety risks are properly managed and will have the support of the other Heads of Service in order to carry out this function.
- 2.2.5 The role of the Council's Health and Safety Champion does not, however, diminish the responsibilities of the other Heads of Service, and of Leadership Team, as a group with regards to the management of the health and safety risks.

Service area Health and Safety Champions

- 2.2.6 Each Head of Service will act as their Service area Champion. They shall ensure that health and safety is given proper consideration by senior managers and more widely within teams, when developing Council policy and services.
- 2.2.7 The Health and Safety Manager will provide professional advice and support to the Health and Safety Champions to allow them to fulfil their responsibilities.

2.3 Allocation of General Responsibilities

2.3.1 The duties and responsibilities for health and safety are allocated as follows:

Policy Makers

2.3.2 Policy Makers are those who are responsible for devising and adopting policy on health, safety and welfare matters at a strategic level. They devise, preserve, develop, approve, promote and maintain the Council's health and safety management system. Policy makers also make sure that health and safety matters are taken into account when organisational decisions are made. The Council's Health and Safety Champion has overall responsibility for policy formulation and development.

Planners

2.3.3 Planners are those who develop detailed local plans to achieve corporate health and safety objectives. They contribute to the Council's health and safety management system by concerning themselves with management arrangements for the identification, elimination and control of hazards and risks within their area of responsibility.

Implementers

2.3.4 Implementers are those within the organisation who make sure that the workplace precautions and safe systems of work are developed in order to control hazards and risk control measures are in place and put into practice.

Assisters

2.3.5 Assisters are those that have the authority, independence and competence to advise, Heads of Service, Management and Employees (or their representatives). They will normally be a member of the Health and Safety Team. They may also be technical or specialist employees who have achieved a certain level of health and safety competency within their specialised field.

Employees

2.3.6 Employee responsibilities described within this policy apply to all employees regardless of position.

Health and Safety Responsibilities	Who does this include:
Policy-makers (the people that make the Council Policies)	Members, Employment Commitee, the Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer, Heads of Service, Health and Safety Champions, Leadership Team
Planners (the people who need to plan how health and safety is effectively managed)	Heads of Service, Service Managers, Designers, and Employee Liaison Group
Implementers (those who have a day to day responsibility and can positively influence how a job is completed)	Managers, Supervisors, Premises Managers, Contract Supervising Officers
Assisters (those who are available to provide advice and guidance on how to comply with requirements)	Health and Safety Officers, Occupational Health Professionals, Human Resources, Specialist Technical Staff, Strategic Partners.
Employees (All employees, at any level have responsibilities)	Permanent, casual, temporary, work placement students, agency, contract and voluntary workers

2.3.7 In addition to the above categories there are some employees who will have specific health and safety responsibilities allocated to them within specific Health and Safety policy and procedural arrangements. For instance officers may be responsible for Construction, Design and Management arrangements, Fire Safety, Asbestos Management, First Aid etc.

2.4 Policy Makers

Policy Makers will devise, preserve, develop, approve, promote and maintain the Council's Health and Safety Management System by:

- 1. Ensuring that their decisions reflect the commitment of this policy and provide a positive culture towards health, safety and welfare issues.
- 2. Specifying a structure for health and safety planning, measuring performance, reviewing performance, auditing and monitoring the Health and Safety Systems;
- 3. Establishing structures and strategies to implement policy and integrating these into general business activity;
- 4. When making policy decisions or considering organisational change, making sure that any relevant health, safety and welfare issues are fully addressed;
- 5. Setting targets to improve health and safety performance as part of the business planning process;
- 6. Making sure that sufficient resources are available for the implementation of this Policy and its supporting arrangements;
- 7. Ensuring that responsibilities for safety, health and welfare are properly assigned, understood and implemented;
- 8. Agreeing plans for improvement and reviewing progress of the Health and Safety Policy, the development of the health and safety management system and the strategic approach to corporate health and safety strategy;
- 9. Ensuring that Members and Cabinet understand and consider the council's obligations and the resource needed to the implement the Health and Safety Policy;
- 10. Ensuring that health and safety is an integral part of the procurement process, and that the Council makes legitimate and relevant health and safety requirements a significant factor in its procurement decisions;
- 11. Ensuring sufficient competent persons (Health and Safety Advisers) are appointed to assist in undertaking measures necessary to comply with statutory requirements and that such persons receive adequate cooperation and communication and are provided with the resources necessary to fulfil their functions.
- 12. Seeking advice from the Health and Safety Team and ensure that they are aware of any relevant health and safety matters as and when necessary;
- 13. Receiving reports from the Health and Safety Team as appropriate, and taking action as necessary;
- 14. Ensuring that the performance of the Council in the field of health and safety is audited and take whatever action may be required;

15. Completing an annual review of health and safety performance, with the outcomes implemented into Service area Service Plans.

2.5 Planners

Planners will contribute to the Council's health and safety management system, by identifying, eliminating and controlling hazards and risks within their area of responsibility by:

- 1. Ensuring that responsibilities for safety, health and welfare are properly assigned, understood and implemented by employees;
- 2. Informing the Policy Makers of the resources (including financial) required to meet their Service's obligations for health and safety matters, including the provision of equipment, clothing and training;
- 3. Establishing management arrangements, risk control options and workplace precautions together with associated performance standards;
- 4. Supporting the Policy Makers in promoting the Health and Safety Management System;
- 5. Ensuring that health and safety is embedded within and fully addressed by their plans prepared as part of the Council's business planning process;
- 6. Setting targets to improve health and safety performance as part of the business planning process;
- 7. Seeking advice from the Health and Safety Team (and other specialists) to ensure effective planning and implementation of policy, and make the Health and Safety Manager aware of relevant health and safety matters as and when necessary;
- 8. Developing and monitoring the effective implementation of the Health and Safety Policy ensuring that it reflects the aims and objectives of the Policy;
- 9. Making sure that action plans, produced as a result of audit processes are drawn up and monitored;
- 10. Ensuring that where local policies/procedures are required, due regard is given to relevant corporate requirements and that the local documents reflect and adhere to the corporate framework;
- 11. When making policy decisions or looking at organisational change, making sure that any relevant health, safety and welfare issues are fully addressed;
- 12. Ensuring the production of comprehensive health and safety procedures and risk assessments specific to their service area are monitored, reviewed and updated on a regular basis and brought to the attention of employees under their control;
- 13. Carrying out regular health and safety inspections to demonstrate their commitment to health and safety;

- 14. Facilitating the setting up of Health and Safety Committees to promote the participation and involvement of Trade Unions/Employee Representatives and Management on all aspects of health and safety;
- 15. Making sure that sufficient service area support is provided for health and safety groups, set up to promote health and safety both locally and at corporate level;
- 16. Ensuring that a named Premises Manager is appointed for each Council workplace and building;
- 17. Keeping up to date with changes in health and safety legislation, standards and good practice;
- 18. Ensuring that the implications of any health and safety directives issued by Policy Makers are implemented within their area of control.

2.6 Implementers

Implementers contribute to the Council's health and safety management system by ensuring that safety precautions and systems of work are developed, adopted and implemented by:

- 1. Maintaining an understanding of the health and safety policy and procedures and an awareness of relevant current health and safety legislation, and operating within these requirements;
- 2. Demonstrating their commitment to the Health and Safety Policy and promoting a positive health and safety culture by:
 - a. setting a good example;
 - b. promoting good practice;
 - c. challenging poor perceptions or attitudes towards health and safety;
 - d. encouraging people to identify problems before they result in accidents/incidents;
 - e. ensuring regular two way communication with employees about health, safety and welfare matters.
- 3. Being accountable for the implementation of the Policy, management arrangements, safe systems of work, workplace precautions and performance standards within their area of control;
- 4. Ensuring that responsibilities for safety, health and welfare are properly assigned, communicated and understood by employees and are referenced within job descriptions within their area of control;
- 5. Making sure that sufficient information and resources are available;
- 6. Ensuring that individuals are held accountable for their health and safety responsibilities.
- 7. Ensuring that health and safety performance is taken into account in performance appraisals, and that corrective action is taken in the case of deviation from health and safety standards/rules etc.

- 8. Ensuring that hazards are identified, control measures implemented and that Risk Assessments are up to date. Making sure that the review, monitoring and re-issue of Risk Assessments is carried out as and when necessary e.g. change in work practices, the introduction of new processes, machinery or people and so on, and at least annually;
- Assessing work activities for risk, planning work activities in order to minimise the risk of accident or ill health to people. Highlighting hazards to employees and detailing/explaining preventive measures;
- 10. Providing employees and non-employees with the necessary information, instruction and training to remain safe;
- 11. Making sure that there is communication and participation at all levels in health and safety activities;
- 12. Supervising work activities adequately to ensure good health and safety standards are maintained;
- 13. Receiving reports from and responding as appropriate to health and safety reports received from Trade Union appointed Health and Safety Representatives/Employee Representatives;
- 14. Making sure that those employees with specific roles/responsibilities for health and safety, e.g. Premises Managers, are competent and receive training as necessary to enable them to perform effectively;
- 15. Where risks cannot be protected by other means, ensuring that personal protective clothing and equipment (PPE) appropriate to the risk is available and used;
- 16. Ensuring active monitoring of health and safety matters for example by undertaking health and safety inspections to ensure compliance with health, safety and welfare legislation;
- 17. Ensuring that targets set on health and safety are being achieved with feedback to the Planners regarding both successes and failures in relation to performance, and advise of any deficiencies in plans, arrangements, systems or precautions;
- 18. Supporting the Planners in achieving targets set by action plans produced as a result of the auditing process;
- 19. Consulting with employees and their representatives on health, safety and welfare matters and ensuring adequate facilities and information are available to them;
- 20. Motivating all employees in the promotion of safe and healthy working conditions and ensuring adequate information, instruction training and supervision is provided;
- 21. Ensuring timely reactive monitoring takes place such as investigating all hazard reports by employees, accidents, near misses, incidents of violence and occupational illness (via referral to Occupational Health where appropriate), in order to identify causes, to establish the facts and put in place measures to prevent a recurrence;
- 22. Supporting individuals who report hazards, accidents, ill health, problems with work related stress etc.

- 23. Making sure that records of accidents/occurrences and ill health, are kept and examined so that trends can be monitored and targets set;
- 24. Monitoring health and safety standards at local level, to identify patterns and trends and address issues of concern;
- 25. Seeking advice and liaising with the Health and Safety Team on health and safety matters and best practice where necessary;
- 26. Informing relevant persons of issues which are beyond their control, or where resources are insufficient to enable compliance with the Health and Safety Policy, and to ensure that extra resources are identified to maintain compliance;
- 27. Ensuring that appropriate people are designated as competent persons / coordinators, to co ordinate health and safety matters at a local level;
- 28. Ensuring that health and safety policies/procedures are implemented within their area.

2.7 Building Safety Manager (Premises Managers)

In addition to the Implementers' responsibilities above, officers appointed as Premises Managers have the following additional health and safety responsibilities:

- 1. To maintain an understanding of the Health and Safety Policy and procedure arrangements and the premises manager responsibilities within them, and an awareness of relevant premises related health and safety legislation, issues and procedures and operating within these requirements;
- 2. To control contractors working on the premises, and ensure that hazard information has been exchanged and suitable risk control measures implemented;
- 3. Ensuring adequate security arrangements are maintained;
- 4. Ensuring the general cleanliness of the premises and that adequate welfare facilities are provided;
- 5. Arranging for regular inspection of the areas of the premises for which they are responsible to monitor that workplace health and safety standards are effective and that a safe means of access and egress is maintained;
- 6. Ensuring that adequate fire safety arrangements and emergency procedures are implemented and maintained;
- 7. Ensuring that plant and equipment is adequately maintained;
- 8. Arranging for the regular testing and maintenance of electrical equipment;
- 9. Maintaining records of plant and equipment maintenance, tests, fire evacuation drills, fire officer inspections and fire extinguisher maintenance;

- 10. Ensuring adequate first aid requirements for the premises are formally assessed and adequate provision is made;
- 11. Ensuring that all premises related hazards are identified, assessed and effective control measures implemented and monitored;
- 12. Undertaking thorough investigations of all premise related accidents/incidents. Ensure the availability of accident records at each premises;
- 13. Ensuring an adequate number of relevant health and safety notices and warning signs are prominently displayed and comply with the Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations;
- 14. Ensuring that an up to date copy of the Health and Safety Law Poster and Employers' Liability Certificate is displayed in an accessible location;
- 15. Maintaining a health and safety file on the premises in relation to any construction work covered by *the Construction (Design and Maintenance) Regulations* and make this available to contractors upon requests;
- 16. Ensuring that adequate systems are in place for the management of asbestos and control of legionella and excessive water temperatures.
- 17. Maintain health and safety records for the building, plant and equipment as appropriate.

2.8 Assisters

Assisters are competent persons appointed to support the Council in meeting its statutory duties. Where appropriate, other specialists will be appointed from outside the Council to provide expert advice. The health and safety assisters will normally be the Health and Safety Team. It may also be technical or specialist employees who have achieved a certain level of health and safety competency within their specialised field.

The Health and Safety Team

They have the authority, independence and competence to advise Heads of Service, Management and Employees (or their representatives), and will:

- 1. Promote a positive health and safety culture;
- 2. Plan for health and safety, and support the setting of realistic targets, deciding on priorities and establishing adequate systems and performance standards;
- 3. Monitor the implementation of the Health and Safety Policy, review performance, and report thereon to the Policy Makers, Planners and the Implementers;
- 4. Assist, monitor and formulate the Council's Health and Safety Policy through consultation with management, Trade Unions' appointed Health and Safety Representatives/Employee Representatives;

- 5. On behalf of the Planners, exercise executive powers, which may include the cessation of work activities, where there is a imminent risk of injury to people;
- 6. Report, as necessary, to appropriate groups, management teams and committees of the Council on Health and Safety matters;
- 7. Liaise with the Health and Safety Executive and other appropriate bodies as necessary;
- 8. Support managers in the assessment of risks, and in the identification of controls;
- 9. Investigate accidents, violent incidents, near misses, work related ill health, health and safety complaints and liability claims;
- 10. Formulate, develop and gain acceptance to health and safety policy;
- 11. Provide advice and guidance on the practical risk control strategies the Council needs to implement to effectively manage health, safety and welfare hazards;
- 12. Manage and communicate health, safety and welfare information as appropriate
- 13. Assist in the Council to encourage its employees to lead more healthy lifestyles, by involvement in health education/promotion activities;
- 14. Interpret the law in the context of the Council, and provide pertinent and meaningful guidance, information and advice on health and safety issues;
- 15. Co-ordinate through design, delivery (where appropriate), implementation and monitoring appropriate Health and Safety training for Managers and Supervisors or other employees as necessary to ensure compliance with statutory legislation and this Policy.

The Occupational Health Unit

The council retains the services of an Occupational Health Team, which will:

- 1. Assist in the development of Health, Safety and Welfare Policies which have an Occupational Health element;
- 2. Provide Occupation Health advice to Managers and Employees;
- 3. Plan and assist the Council to develop occupational health strategies and targets;
- 4. Complete Health Surveillance as required by the Legislation;
- 5. Assist the Council in encouraging its employees to lead healthy lifestyles by involvement in health education/promotion activities;
- 6. Undertake the delivery of a range of occupational health activities.

2.9 Employees

Employees have an important role to play in achieving a healthy and safe work environment and maintaining and improving health and safety standards, so all employees will:

- 1. Take reasonable care for the health and safety of themselves and of other people who may be affected by what they do, or neglect to do, whilst at work;
- 2. Co-operate with their manager enable that tasks, duties or requirements to be performed or complied with;
- 3. Use machinery, equipment, plant, substances, transport in accordance with training and instruction provided;
- 4. Not intentionally or recklessly interfere with or misuse anything provided in the interests of Health, Safety and Welfare;
- 5. Draw the attention of their line manager, without delay, to any work situation which might present a serious and imminent danger to themselves/others;
- 6. Ensure that they familiarise themselves, and work in accordance, with guidance given in risk assessments, protective measures, health and safety policy arrangements, safe systems of work, and safety rules with regard to their working practices;
- 7. Conform to all instructions whether verbal or written, given to ensure personal safety and the safety of others;
- 8. Be appropriately dressed for the particular working conditions and activities;
- 9. Conduct themselves at all times in an orderly manner in the workplace and refrain from horseplay;
- 10. Report all accidents, near misses, incidents of violence, work related ill health, diseases and dangerous occurrences whether injury is sustained or not, to their line manager as soon as possible;
- 11. Enter the details of any injury or ill health sustained at work into the accident report book that is available at each workplace;
- 12. Co-operate fully in the reporting and investigation of any accident/near miss, dangerous occurrence and incident of violence, and the completion of any health surveillance activities;
- 13. Attend health and safety training courses to further their knowledge and understanding of health and safety as required;
- 14. Acquaint themselves with all processes, materials and substances used by them, using those substances in accordance with guidance/information provided e.g. COSHH assessments, hazard data sheets;

- 15. Make themselves aware of and participate in the fire evacuation procedure for their premises and become aware of the position of fire exits, alarms and equipment. Ensure that escape routes/exits are not blocked;
- 16. When operating in a work environment outside the direct control of their immediate supervisor, identify and report to the person controlling the site so as to be informed of site safety rules or special requirements e.g. protective clothing;
- 17. Not use equipment or materials which have been provided by their employer for purposes other than that for which they have been provided;
- 18. Promptly report unsafe conditions, methods of work, practices, tools, plant, premises or equipment to their line manager/trades union representative/ Health and Safety Representative/employee representative and/or the Health and Safety Team as appropriate;
- 19. Wear/use personal protective equipment as specified;
- 20. Maintain high standards of site tidiness/good housekeeping;
- 21. Seek advice on health and safety responsibilities and best practice where necessary.
- 2.9.1 All employees have a duty to co-operate at all times in the furtherance of the Policy objectives. The Council insists on safe working methods and employees disregarding safety rules and procedures drawn up for their and others' benefit will be liable to disciplinary action not excluding dismissal.

NOTE

2.9.2 During any periods of absence by employees, whether absence be because of leave, sickness or other reason, their duties and responsibilities for health and safety will be undertaken by the person conducting that person's general operational duties, thereby ensuring a continuation of health and safety focus.

2.10 Trade Union Safety Representatives

The Trade Union Safety Representatives must:

- 1. Represent employees in consultation with employers.
- 2. Co-operate effectively in promoting and developing health and safety measures;
- 3. Make representations to the employer in writing on general matters affecting the health, safety and welfare of other persons employed at the workplace.
- 4. Carry out safety inspections.
- 5. Represent their members in consultation with officers of the enforcement agencies.
- 6. Receive information from Inspectors.
- 7. Attend meetings of safety committees in their capacity as a safety representative.

3. Health and Safety Management

3.1 Arrangements for Applying the Policy

This Health and Safety Policy sets out a framework for the organisation and arrangements for health and safety across the Council. To support this policy and to effectively manage the health and safety risks and issues within the organisation, developed a series of topic-based health, safety and welfare policies and procedures have been developed and adopted. These policies provide the detailed arrangements for effective management of specific health, safety and welfare risks.

The policies and procedures are based on the legislative requirements and current industry best practice; they are formulated in accordance with the HSE management model HS (G) 65. The aim of the policies is to define the minimum knowledge needed to meet legal and corporate standards, and provide Planners, Implementers and Employees with effective guidance and support on how to manage the risks effectively and the specific responsibilities they need to comply with.

All corporate health and safety information will be available via the Council's Intranet site and / or Service area Health and Safety Manuals.

Where appropriate safe-working procedures will be supported by health and safety training, instruction or information.

3.2 Procedures for Identifying and Dealing with Priorities

Managers will prioritise and deal with safety matters within their own area of responsibility and make arrangements to rectify matters relating to health and safety. Where the matter cannot be dealt with locally then the issue must be reported to their line manager immediately.

Leadership Team will prioritise health and safety issues of a general nature that potentially have a corporate effect and which involve policy decisions. It is recognised that Leadership Team may not be able to resolve some health and safety issues and as such will refer them to the elected Members (Cabinet or Employment Committee) for consideration and prioritising.

3.3 Accident & Incident Reporting

All accidents, health and safety related incidents, work related ill health, violent incidents or dangerous occurrences that occur at, or as a result of, work for the Council must be reported immediately following the Accident & Incident Reporting Procedure.

All incidents, accidents, ill health or dangerous occurrences will be reported verbally to their line manager and confirmed by the completion of an Accident & Incident Report Form and a copy forwarded to the Health and Safety Advisor. The forms are available on the Council Intranet site or from the Health and Safety Advisor.

Further information can be found in the Council's Accident & Incident Reporting Procedure.

3.4 Consultation

The responsibility placed on employers to provide employment that is safe for employees, clients and visitors can only be achieved with the co-operation of everybody involved in the organisation.

In order to facilitate this agreed consultation arrangements have been established to act as a forum for the exchange of views between employers and employees. Where there are difficulties that cannot be resolved at local level between supervisors and employees the issues will be brought to the attention of senior managers who will look to resolve by a wider consideration.

3.5 Occupational Health

The Council offers an Occupational Health Service to all employees. The service includes an immunisation programme, health surveillance and specialist medical advice.

To make use of these services please contact a member of the HR Team.

3.6 Reference & Information

All information regarding health, safety and welfare procedures and the necessary accompanying information can be found in the Council's Health, Safety & Welfare Manual, on the Council's Health and Safety Intranet site. Other relevant information will also be displayed on the health and safety notice boards.

The Health and Safety Advisor will be responsible for distributing any updates to policies or procedures.

3.7 Risk Assessments

The Council will ensure that risk assessments are completed and reviewed for all hazards arising out of or in connection with the activities undertaken by the Council. Managers will be responsible for ensuring that risk assessments as required under Health and Safety Regulations have been undertaken, and that the hazards identified together with the preventative and precautionary control measures have been considered and recorded. The findings of the risk assessment will be passed to employees to safeguard their health, safety or welfare.

The Council will take account of the competence of relevant employees when conducting risk assessments. This will help in deciding what level of information, instruction, training and supervision is required.

Full details are contained within the Risk Assessment Procedure.

3.8 Training, Instruction & Supervision

Each employee who joins the Council must be fully trained in all aspects of Health & Safety as required by their job role and be able to demonstrate that they are fully competent to

conduct the tasks required of them. Training will be undertaken upon induction, upon assignment of a new role and at regular intervals.

Each employee will need to be competent to undertake their role. The Council considers that Competence is a combination of training, skills, experience and knowledge that a person has and their ability to apply them to perform a task safely. Other factors, such as attitude and physical ability, can also affect someone's competence

The Council will take account of the competence of relevant employees when conducting risk assessments. This will help in deciding what level of information, instruction, training and supervision is required.

Health and safety training will consist of

- correct safe systems of working on all equipment they are expected to use and tasks they are expected to do,
- the correct use/storage of any personal protective equipment provided for them
- The risks posed by tasks and equipment they are expected to use and the safety measures in place to eliminate or reduce these risks
- The emergency and evacuation procedures
- Their responsibilities towards health and safety

The health and safety training needs and competence of individual employees will be assessed by their line manager. Where a specific need is identified by managers they will make a written request as part of the PDR process.

Full details of the Health and Safety Courses available can be found in the Council Health & Safety Training Course Catalogue.

4 Health and Safety Arrangements

4.1 Agile Working

Home working provides a form of flexible working that can, in certain circumstances bring benefits to employees and the Council. However the success of home working depends on whether all the elements (i.e. the job, the person, remote facilities and the home) are suited to this type of working practice.

The Council is committed to the ongoing management, development and welfare of its staff and the use of home working, where possible, is viewed as a contribution to that commitment.

Managers may find that from time to time it is mutually beneficial to allow employees to work for an agreed temporary period of time from home.

Working from home is usually a short-term arrangement, which must be authorised by a Manager. However, before authorising home working, Managers must, alongside any contractual arrangements, consider the health and safety arrangements for the employee.

Full guidance on home working is contained within the agile working procedures.

4.2 Asbestos

The Council has a duty to comply with the Control of Asbestos Regulations. These Regulations prohibit the importation, supply and use of all forms of asbestos. They continue the ban of blue, brown and white asbestos and the use of second hand products such as asbestos sheets and asbestos boards. The ban only applies to new use of asbestos. If existing asbestos containing materials are in good condition, they may be left in place, their condition being monitored and managed to ensure they are not disturbed.

The council has a "duty to manage" asbestos. The council as the duty holder will:

- 1. take reasonable steps to identify if there are materials containing asbestos in non-domestic premises, and if so, its amount, where it is and what condition it is in;
- 2. presume materials contain asbestos unless there is strong evidence that they do not;
- 3. make, and keep up-to-date, a record of the location and condition of the asbestos containing materials and materials which are presumed to contain asbestos; A record of this information will be located at each premises.
- 4. assess the risk of anyone being exposed to fibres from the materials identified;
- 5. prepare a plan that sets out in detail how the risks from these materials will be managed;
- 6. take the necessary steps to put the plan into action;
- 7. periodically review and monitor the plan and the arrangements to act on it so that the plan remains relevant and up-to-date; and
- 8. provide information on the location and condition of the materials to anyone who is liable to work on or disturb them.

4.3 Contractor Safety

The Council recognises the need to ensure the health and safety of people other than its own employees who may be affected by its work activities. All reasonable effort will be made to liaise with contractors to ensure that everyone is complying with the same standards of health and safety.

All Contractors and sub- contractors, whilst working for the council will abide with all relevant health and safety legislation and follow all relevant procedures/working practices.

Premises managers will, where appropriate, ensure that proper arrangements are made to control contractors entering their premises or onto their site by referencing the Council's Contractor Safety Procedure.

If major work is to be undertaken then the Health and Safety Advisor must be notified in writing, prior to any procurement exercise being undertaken so that any technical health and safety information, which is required, can be included within the specification.

The Health and Safety Advisor must be advised when bids for major works are to be considered to ensure that any technical health and safety information is properly appraised.

Managers must ensure that any contractors' works being conducted within their work area are carried out in a safe manner. It is the aim of the Council to promote co-ordination and co-operation of health and safety arrangements between the two employers sharing the workplace.

All employees, and contractors, will ensure that every effort is made to protect service users/members of the public from the contractors' activities and further to ensure a courteous approach with the minimum possible disruption as far as is possible.

All employees, including contractors, will be advised of their legal duty to carry out their work operations in a safe manner, and to co-operate with the Council.

All contractors will be advised that under no circumstances will they be permitted to allow untrained, inexperienced or uncertified (where applicable) persons to work on the Council's sites unless they are properly supervised or undergoing appropriate training.

The Council's employees will be made aware of any work operations or processes by contractors which may affect their health, safety or welfare and be given adequate warnings, notification and instruction of any likely hazards which contractors operations may create.

Wherever practicable all operations carried out by contractors will be securely isolated by fencing or barriers and appropriate warning signs will be displayed.

4.4 Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH)

The Council is required to examine the workplace with a view to ensuring that neither the employer, employees nor any other person (whether at work or not) are exposed to any substance that may be hazardous to their health arising from any of the practices carried out or any substances used.

In order to do this an assessment of the risks to health must be made. Full details are contained in the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Procedure.

4.5 Diseases, Infections and viruses in the workplace

The Council recognises the need to remain alert to diseases, infections and viruses that are circulating within the community and the ways in which we need to protect our employees and the public affected by our services. We will seek advice and support from professional organisations such as the Department of Health and Social care and Public Health England when designing any protective measures.

At all times we will endeavour to ensure that all work environments have appropriate risk assessments in place, that workplaces and equipment are appropriately clean and hygienic,

that PPE is available and provided in line with guidance and that other protective measures such as social distancing, screens, workplace "bubbles" etc are correctly implemented and monitored.

Where required to protect employees and members of the public we will modify our working practices to ensure people are as safe as is reasonably practicable.

4.6 Display Screen Equipment and Workstations

All reasonable steps will be taken by the Council to secure the health and safety of employees who work with display screen equipment (DSE). Full details are contained in the Council's Display Screen Equipment Procedure.

4.7 Drugs and Alcohol

Working under the influence of alcohol or drugs can seriously inhibit an employee's judgement and capabilities to undertake tasks in a safe manner. Employees are reminded to inform their manager if they are taking any prescribed or over-the-counter medication that could impair their judgement or ability to undertake tasks.

Further guidance on dealing with drugs and alcohol use can be found in the Managing Alcohol in the workplace procedures. Employees are able to gain support from the Council's Human Resource Services Team who can refer employees to Occupational Health services for counselling and support, if required.

4.8 Electricity at Work

The Council will ensure that the electrical installation at all Council premises/establishments are maintained and tested at appropriate intervals to ensure safety and a certificate of satisfaction is provided by a competent electrician at least once every five years or following any alterations etc. to the electrical installation.

All contractors engaged by the Council to carry out any electrical or electrically related work will be duly recognised by the electrical industry and only permitted to carry out such work if they are competent to do so.

For any operation that requires a permit to work then the instructions as laid down by such a permit will be strictly adhered to and never deviated from unless the issuer of the permit agrees and gives written consent.

Records of any maintenance or inspection to the electrical installation or portable appliances will be kept at the premises/establishment to which the electrical maintenance relates.

Portable electrical appliances will only be used for the purpose for which they were intended and in the environment for which they were designed and constructed.

Any faults to electrical appliances must be reported to the management and the equipment taken out of use immediately. Appropriate steps should be taken to prevent the equipment from being used again until a competent electrician repairs it.

4.9 Event Safety

The event manager will ensure an appropriate event safety plan, risk assessment and event layout is documented and that the plans are put into practice for the duration of the event. The Health and Safety Adviser should be informed of all events and, as a minimum, a copy of the documents should be sent to the Health and Safety Advisor for review.

Where external bodies co-ordinate events but use Council land it is important that there are appropriate contractual arrangements in place and an event booking form and terms and conditions of hire are accepted by the hirer.

4.10 Fire Precautions

The Council will ensure that a full and proper fire precautions procedure is operated at all its premises and fire risk assessments have been completed. The Council will liaise with the County Fire and Rescue Service and seek their assistance in establishing adequate measures for fire precautions at all its premises.

Attention will be given to the prevention of the outbreak of the fire and training will be given to all employees at regular intervals. An evacuation procedure will be established for all premises and employees will be provided with the precautions operating at their place of work and in its operation.

Fire drills will be held annually at all premises. A record of the drill will be kept on site at all premises.

The Council will ensure that adequate fire fighting equipment is made available in all its premises as required by the fire certificate, or as recommended by the County Fire Officer. A competent contractor will adequately maintain all such equipment. All other fire precautions equipment (e.g. fire alarms, emergency lighting) will also be maintained at the required intervals.

4.11 First Aid Provisions

The Council shall assess its requirements to provide first aid at each premises to ensure it meets the requirements of the First Aid at Work Regulations 1981 and Health and Safety (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2002.

The outcome of the assessment shall ensure that the number of qualified first aid personnel, appointed people and first aid facilities are appropriate for each premises. Full details are contained in the First Aid Provisions Procedure.

4.12 Gas Installations and Appliances

The Council shall ensure that all gas installations and appliances are inspected at suitable periods by a Gas Safe registered engineer. Any faults identified shall be rectified or the equipment taken out of use until a suitable alternative is identified.

4.13 Legionella

The Council's Property Services Team will take steps to Identify and assess the risk of legionella infection, manage the risks by assigning management responsibilities, providing training, prevent or control the risk of exposure to legionella bacteria and maintain appropriate records.

4.14 Lifting Equipment

Lifting Equipment is identified in the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998, as any equipment used for lowering loads including attachments used for anchoring, fixing or supporting it. These regulations include a wide range of equipment including cranes, forklift trucks, lifts, hoists, mobile elevating platforms and vehicle inspection platform hoists. The definition also includes lifting accessories such as chains, slings and eyebolts.

The Council has a duty to provide lifting equipment that is:

- Strong and stable enough for the particular use and marked to indicate safe working loads
- Positioned and installed to minimise any risks
- Used safely, for example work is planned, organised and performed by a competent person
- Subject to ongoing thorough examination (six monthly for passenger carrying lifting equipment and 12 monthly for non passenger carrying lifting equipment).
- Lifting equipment will be inspected and maintained by a competent person

4.15 Lone Working

The Council employs a number of people who work most or part of their day by themselves. It is the intention of the Council that where practically possible, lone workers should not be exposed to significantly more risks than employees who work together, that they are safe at all times and they can be traced back to their last visit in case of an accident or illness.

Lone Working and Personal Safety Awareness courses are essential for employees who may be "at risk" of violence and aggression. These courses are available by contacting the Health and Safety Team

4.16 Manual Handling

The Council will ensure that the Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992 are complied with by ensuring that:

- Suitable and sufficient assessments are completed,
- Hazardous manual handling operations are avoided so far as is reasonably practicable,
- The risks of injury are reduced so far as is reasonably practicable, and
- All employees who carry out manual handling operations have received suitable training.

4.17 Needle Stick Injuries

The Council is committed to the highest possible standard of health, safety and welfare for all of its employees. It acknowledges the health hazards arising from needle stick injuries and shall take all reasonable steps to protect those employees that come into contact with needles and syringes.

When a hypodermic punctures the skin, cross contamination can occur between the user of the needle and the person pricked or cut with the needle. The Council will provide advice, guidance and support to any employee who suffers from a needle stick injury.

A risk assessment under the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 will be carried out to assess if there is a risk of needle stick injury. If there is found to be a risk then the Council will implement suitable control measures.

4.18 New & Expectant Mothers

Many women work while they are pregnant and may return to work while they are still breastfeeding. Some hazards in the workplace may affect the health and safety of new and expectant mothers and of her child. Therefore, working conditions normally considered acceptable may no longer be so during pregnancy and while breastfeeding. Full details are contained in the Council's New and Expectant Mother Procedure.

4.19 No Smoking / Passive Smoking

Since July 2006 it has been illegal to smoke in any enclosed public place, enclosed work place or vehicle used for work.

To promote better health and reduce passive smoking among employees the Council has had a no smoking policy since April 2002.

4.20 Noise

The Control of Noise at Work Regulations requires the Council to prevent or reduce risks to health and safety from exposure to noise at work. Employees have duties under the regulations too.

The Council will:

- Assess the risks to employees from noise at work
- Take action to reduce noise exposure that produces those risks
- Provide employees with hearing protection if noise cannot be reduced by using other methods
- Make sure the legal limit on noise is not exceeded
- Provide employees with instruction, training and supervision
- Carry out health surveillance where there is a risk to health

4.21 Personal Protective Equipment

Employees will be provided with any protective clothing and equipment identified as being necessary to protect their health and safety.

Managers/Supervisors will ensure that their employees make proper use of the protective equipment made available to them and provide replacement equipment when circumstances require. It is the responsibility of all employees to use protective equipment provided to them and to report to their line manager any loss or defect of such equipment.

Further details are contained in the Council's Personal Protective Equipment Procedures.

4.22 Petrol and Diesel Use & Storage

Some services store quantities of petrol and diesel fuel within the workplace. This could be for vehicles, plant and equipment such as mowers, strimmers and the like. These can be highly flammable substances and the Council must ensure that this is done safely and the correct equipment/storage facilities, precautions and controls are put in place.

Risk assessments for the storing, transporting and use of petrol/diesel must be completed.

4.23 Safety Signs

Safety signs are covered by the Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations. To comply with these regulations the Council is required to provide specific safety signs whenever there is a risk that has not been avoided or controlled by other means, for example safe systems of work or engineering controls. Where a safety sign would not help reduce the risk or where the risk is not significant there is no need to provide a sign.

The regulations require road traffic signs to be used within workplaces to regulate road traffic.

The Council will maintain all safety signs that have been provided by the Council.

The Council will identify any signs that are unfamiliar to employees and tell them what to do when they see a safety sign.

4.24 Slips, Trips and Falls

Through its risk assessment process the risks of slips, trips and falls shall be assessed and action taken to reduce its risks to a reasonably practicable level.

4.25 Stress

The Council understands that from time to time employees can be affected by stress and not everyone deals with it in the same way. If it is intense and goes on for some time it can lead to mental and physical ill health and is fast approaching one of the top reasons for absenteeism in the workplace.

With good management the Council can help to reduce work related stress where it is already occurring, and can prevent it in the first place.

The HR team should be contacted for help with dealing with work related stress and along with the Health and Safety Adviser will seek to help and support employees as appropriate.

4.26 Suspect Packages

The Council could receive a suspect package in many forms. Whilst a suspect package received from a terrorist could have serious consequences the likelihood of it occurring is low.

The Council does however occasionally receive packages that are "suspect" in their nature and require dealing with extreme care. Such packages may be sent by local or regional activists or from members of the community who use it as a way of protest. Unpleasant items such as animal waste, dead animals, bodily fluids or sharp objects could all cause risks if employees came into contact with them.

The Council will ensure that appropriate procedures, advice and guidance is available to ensure the threat of suspect packages is effectively managed

4.27 Tree Management

The Council owns a substantial number of trees and recognises it has a duty to ensure that its stock is maintained in a way that reflects good practice, minimises the risks of trees failing or growing in such a manner that threatens people's health and property and which ensures that the tree stock is protected.

The Council's Tree Management Policy sets out the procedures in place to manage its tree stock.

4.28 Vibration

The Council has a responsibility to protect our employees from the effect of Vibration. Full details are contained in the Council's Vibration Management Procedure.

4.29 Violence at Work

The Council recognises that some employees are at potential risk of violent and / or threatening behaviour at work. This is particularly true of front line services dealing with members of the public, where the public may be in a heightened emotional state. Examples include; withdrawal/reduction of benefit payments, enforcement action, anti social behaviour around premises, difficulty in resolving homelessness issues etc.

The Council will not tolerate any act of violence and/or aggression towards its employees and will take action. Personal Safety Awareness courses are essential for employees who may be "at risk" of violence and aggression. These courses are available by contacting the Health and Safety Team.

4.30 Wellbeing at Work

The Council is committed to creating a workplace that promotes employee health and wellbeing, focusing on key organisational enablers such as health and safety, manager training, employee competence, inclusion and work life balance etc. In addition we will promote areas such as mental, musculoskeletal and physical health and promoting healthy lifestyles.

To support staff we will provide details of available local and national resources, policies and services that would support implementation of the commitment. The approach will aim to encourage employees by making it clearer and easier for them to have a heightened awareness and take action to improve their own health and wellbeing.

An employee wellbeing task group will lead, co-ordinate and produce and annual promotion plan for activities.

4.31 Work Equipment

The Council has a legal responsibility under the Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations to ensure that the equipment we provide is fit for purpose and is regularly serviced and maintained.

All equipment needs to be checked regularly to ensure it is working correctly, does not pose a risk to people who may come into contact with it and that all safety related features are functioning.

The frequency and type of checks and maintenance will depend on the type of machinery, the frequency of use, the risks posed by the equipment and the environment it is used in. Maintenance on equipment may be planned preventative (e.g. servicing), internal upkeep or as a response to breakdown. Safety checks can range from a simple users visual check to an Insurance Report or Written Scheme of Examination.

The Council will ensure that all plant and equipment is maintained in a safe condition and without defects likely to cause a risk to the health and safety of any employee.

All work equipment which is subject to a statutory inspection, such as lifts, hoists, pressure systems, abrasive wheels etc. will be maintained on a planned basis and also inspected by the Council's Insurance Engineer to comply with the Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 and the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998.

All plant and equipment will be maintained in accordance with the manufacturers' instructions to ensure its safe operation.

The Council will only purchase work equipment that meets the minimum required standards laid down by the European Union and which is marked with CE logo and/or the appropriate British Standard.

All employees will receive the necessary information, instruction, training and supervision to ensure the safe operation of work equipment in line with procedures and safe working practices.

4.32 Working at Heights

The Council has a duty to comply with the Working at Heights Regulations. In order to comply the Council will ensure:

- Where possible working at height will be eliminated
- All work at height is properly planned and organised and risk assessments completed

- All work at height takes account of weather conditions that could endanger anyone's safety
- Those involved in work at height are trained and competent
- The place where work at height is done is safe
- Equipment for work at height is appropriately inspected
- The risks from fragile surfaces are properly controlled
- The risks from falling objects are properly controlled

4.33 Working Time

The Council recognises that control of working hours is an essential part of promoting health at work, but it is accepted that there is also a need to balance this with the requirement to provide high quality services.

The Council will ensure that it remains compliant with the requirements of the Working Time Regulations.

4.34 Workplace and Welfare Facilities

The Council shall ensure that all workplaces meet the health, safety and welfare needs of all members of the workforce.

This will include providing

- Sufficiently ventilated enclosed work areas
- A reasonable comfortable temperature in work rooms without the need for special clothing
- Suitable lighting
- Adequate space for employees within workrooms
- Suitable floor and traffic routes free from uneven and slippery surfaces
- Sufficient number of sanitary conveniences and washing facilities
- A supply of drinking water
- Provision of accommodation for clothing to store workers own and work clothing
- Facilities for changing to/from work clothes
- Facilities for rest and to eat meals

4.35 Workplace Transport

Workplace Transport means any vehicle that is used on council business. This can include but not limited to forklift trucks, compact dumpers, mowers, quad bikes, tractors, mobile cranes, cars, vans and large goods vehicles when these are operating on or off the public highway.

The Council will through its risk assessment process consider the risks of workplace transport activities both on and off Council sites. Procedures will ensure that employees are competent to carry out workplace transport tasks.

4.36 Young People

Young people, especially those new to the workplace, will encounter unfamiliar risks from the jobs they will be doing and from the working environment.

Key risks for young people when starting work may arise because of their lack of experience or maturity and not having the confidence to ask for or knowing where they can get help

The Council will ensure that:

- A suitable risk assessment is completed
- They are suitable trained in the area they are in
- They will have a supervisor responsible for their training and available to answer any question or queries they may have

5. Measuring Performance

Heads of Service will ensure that managers and supervisors of their respective services will carry out active monitoring of health and safety by regular inspection and checking to ensure that standards are being maintained and appropriate controls are working. Any items for remedial action should be reported to the Head of Service. Health and Safety will be a standing item on team briefs.

Reactive monitoring will also take place if things go wrong, which will include investigating injuries, cases of illness, property damage and near misses. The Health and Safety Advisor will arrange this.

The Health and Safety Advisor will produce reports as required on health and safety issues including performance, actions from risk assessments and safety inspections and progress on a health and safety plan. This will be discussed at Leadership Team via the Corporate Champion.

The following key performance indicators will be reported. The results of these indicators will be provided to Policy Makers and Planners annually and published in the Annual Report

Employee Indicators

- Number of accidents to employees
- Number of accidents to employees that are to be reported under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR 1995)
- Days lost due to accidents at work to employees
- Number of violent or threatening incidents reported
- Number of training days delivered
- Number of health and safety audits completed

Public Indicators

• Number of accidents to the public

Additional indicators

- Number of Liability claims received
- Costs of liability claims settled

6. Monitoring and Review

6.1 Monitoring of the Policy

6.32.1 This Policy will be monitored actively through health and safety auditing systems carried out by the Health and Safety Team, and also through the role and functions of Trades Union appointed Health and Safety Representatives / Employee Representatives. It will also be reactively monitored by the continued collation of accident, near miss, violent incident and ill health, statistics produced on a regular basis.

6.33 Review and Communication

- 5.2.2 This policy will continually be developed, reviewed and updated, as necessary (at least every two years). Any changes will be brought immediately to the attention of all managers and employees through communication channels, Health and Safety Committees, employee newsletters, employee notice boards, employee briefing meetings, training courses etc.
- 5.2.3 A copy of this Health and Safety Policy, which is a declaration of the Authority's commitment to health, safety and welfare, will be made available to all employees.

6.34 Supporting Information

- 6.34.1 The Council's Health and Safety Policy is supported by other policies and procedures covering many aspects of health and safety.
- 6.34.2 The Council may add to, delete or amend procedures from time to time in the interest of continuous improvement of the health and safety management system. Each new or amended Policy/Procedure will, following the relevant consultation process, be brought to the attention of all employees.
- 6.34.3 The Health and Safety Policy is also supported by various health and safety training courses. The Health and Safety Advisor should be contacted for a current list of courses.

7. Auditing

7.1 Auditing

- 7.1.1 One of the priorities of our business is to ensure that everyone who visits our premises, whether customers, suppliers, contractors or colleagues, do so in a safe environment. To meet both the Council's legal obligations and customer expectations, the following checking procedures are completed:
 - Site Health & Safety Inspections completed by the Service Area Management team
 - Internal Health & Safety Audit conducted by the Health & Safety Advisor
 - Support Visits conducted by the Health & Safety Advisor
- 7.1.2 In addition to these, but not managed by the Health & Safety Team, are Internal Financial and Technical audits, both of which contain a health and safety element.
- 7.1.3 The findings of these audits will be made available to Policy Makers and Planners and the action plans to address any issues will be implemented as soon as reasonable. Any findings which have the potential to result in serious injury will be reviewed by the Health and Safety Team along with remedial actions implemented to control the risk so far as is reasonably practicable.
- 7.1.4 The findings of any HSE audits will be shared with Policy Makers and Planners to ensure that a consistent approach is taken across the Council to resolve any issues identified. The findings and details of the actions being taken will be documented in the annual report.

Service area Audits

- 7.1.5 The Health and Safety Team will complete an audit of each lower risk service at least once every 3 years. Services with greater health and safety risks (e.g. Grounds Maintenance) will be audited on at least an annual basis. The findings will be made available promptly to the relevant managers/premise managers, Head of Service and trade union and employee representatives
- 7.1.6 In addition to the internal audits, some of the Council's workplaces may also receive an external audit by an approving body or enforcing Authority such as HSE, Fire and Rescue Service, Environment Agency, OFSTED etc, which incorporates a review of the workplaces health, safety and welfare management arrangements. The findings of these audits will be considered and acted upon accordingly.